

NATIONAL TRAINING CENTER

Training Operations

Desktop Procedure

Title:	CARDS User Guide
Number:	TRN-DP-372
Revision:	3

Submitted By:

Special Programs Coordinator Programs & Projects Department **Reviewed By:**

Development Operations Manager Information Technology Dept. Approved By: Manager Programs & Projects Department

CONTENTS

1.0) PURPOSE			
2.0	ROLE	E DEFINITIONS	1	
3.0 OPERATIONS				
	3.1	Logging in to CARDS	1	
		3.1.1 Logging in Using an Existing CARDS Account		
		3.1.2 Creating a New CARDS Account	2	
	3.2	Browsing in CARDS	4	
	3.3	Searching in CARDS	4	
		3.3.1 Quick Search		
		3.3.2 Advanced Search		
	3.4	Viewing the Details of a Card		
	3.5	Downloading Files		
		3.5.1 Zipping and Downloading Multiple Files		
		3.5.2 Downloading Individual Files		
	3.6	Using Comment Threads		
	3.7	Adding a Review to a Card		
		3.7.1 Creating and Submitting a New Review	8	
	0.0	3.7.2 Editing a Review		
	3.8	Reporting Inappropriate Content		
		3.8.1 Reporting a Card		
		3.8.2 Reporting a Comment		
		3.8.3 Reporting a Review		
	3.9	3.8.4 Reporting Content Viewing Related Cards		
	3.9	3.9.1 Cards with Similar Tags		
		3.9.2 Card Variants		
	3.10	Managing Subscriptions		
	5.10	3.10.1 Subscribing/Unsubscribing to a Tag		
		3.10.2 Subscribing/Unsubscribing to an Organization		
	3.11	Creating a New Card		
	0.11	3.11.1 Entering New Card Details		
		3.11.2 Adding Tags		
		3.11.3 Indicating a Card is a Variant of Another Card		
		3.11.4 Adding the Point of Contact		
		3.11.5 Specifying Availability of Additional Evaluation Materials		
		3.11.6 Creating the Card		
	3.12	Activating and Inactivating a Card		
	0	3.12.1 Activating an Inactive Card		
		3.12.2 Inactivating a Card		
	3.13	Uploading and Deleting Files		
	-	3.13.1 Uploading Files		
		3.13.2 Deleting a File		
	3.14	Editing an Existing Card		
	3.15	Reciprocity	18	

REVISION HISTORY

Rev.	Date	Description of Revision
3	See Final Signature	 Section 3.1.1.1: Item 2: Changed "select DOE PIV/DHS PIV/DOD CAC under Sign on with an HSPD-12 Smart Card" to "under Sign on with a Smart Card or Security Key, select DOE/DHS PIV or CAC" and replaced graphic. Item 3: "Note: Users may be presented with several choices of smart card certificates to choose from. For guidance on which certificate to select, go to https://ntc.doe.gov/linksandresources/Choosing_the_Correct_Certificate_for_ADFS_Login.pdf": Deleted. (Previous) Section 3.6, Previewing a SCORM Package File: Deleted and renumbered subsequent sections. (Previous) Section 3.11, Previewing Content: Deleted and renumbered subsequent sections. Section 3.11.1, Entering New Card Details, Item 2:
2	04/28/22	 Global: Updated screenshots as needed. Section 3.1: Revised to provide guidance on using an existing account and creating a new account.
1	01/08/20	 Global changes: Updated all screen captures and procedures for using CARDS application. Changed "eAccess" to "AppAccess". Removed references to "CARDS Community". Appendix B, Role Definitions in CARDS Community: Deleted. Reassigned document number from NTC-DP-372 to TRN-DP-372.
0	03/09/18	Original document approved.

1.0 PURPOSE

This document provides directions for performing tasks in the user role using the Course and Related Data System (CARDS) application maintained by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) National Training Center (NTC).

2.0 ROLE DEFINITIONS

For information about roles and permissions in CARDS, see TRN-DP-370, *NTC CARDS Administrator Guide*, Appendix A, *Role Definitions in CARDS*.

- 3.0 OPERATIONS
- 3.1 Logging in to CARDS

3.1.1 Logging in Using an Existing CARDS Account

3.1.1.1 OneID

1. Select the **Sign In/Request Access** link in the CARDS application at https://cards.ntc.doe.gov.



2. If the user has an HSPD-12 smart card, go to the OneID login portal and under Sign on with a Smart Card or Security Key, select **DOE/DHS PIV** or **CAC**.

If the user does not have an HSPD-12 smart card, go to Section 3.1.1.2 for directions on accessing CARDS using Login.gov.

CARDS			
Sign on with a Smart Card or Security Key			
DOE/DHS PIV			

- 3. Select the user's certificate.
- 4. When prompted, enter the PIN associated with the user's HSPD-12 badge. When the PIN has been accepted, the user will be routed back to CARDS.

3.1.1.2 Login.gov

1. From the OneID login portal, under Sign on with another account, select **Login.gov**.

NTC CARDS					
Sig	n on with an HSPD-12 Smart C	ard			
DOE PIV / DHS PIV / DOD CAC					
5	Sign on with a DOE site account	t			
Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory	Lawrence Livermore Sandia National Laboratory Sandia Laboratories Sandia				
MSC Manager by HONEYWELL	Pacific Northwest	ELS Garge F Servers			
Sign on with another account					

2. From the Login.gov website at https://www.login.gov/create-an-account, follow the directions on the site to create an account and password and to set up the account authentication methods. Be prepared to prove identity using a social security number, address, and/or U.S.-based state-issued identification.

M official website of the United States government Here's how you know Y	
	➡ Language ✓ Sign in with ♥ LOGIN.GOV
ULOGIN.GOV	
What is Login.gov? Who uses Login.gov? Create an account Help center	Search
	0
Create an account	
	• • •
Join the millions of people who trust Login.gov for safe, secure access to government agencies.	

3.1.2 Creating a New CARDS Account

Upon completing the OneID or Login.gov account process, users will be prompted to complete an account request form in the NTC AppAccess Portal.

1. Complete this form in its entirety.

2. Provide a detailed explanation of the user's need for access to expedite their account request.

NTC AppAccess Portal			
Request CARDS Access			
First Name:	John		
Middle Name:			
Last Name:	Smith		
*Email:	JSmith@gmail.com		
*Phone:			
Organization:			
"Why Are You Requesting Access?:			
	*		
I'm not a robot			
Please contact support if you have questions or concerns with the	his form. Submit Request		

3.1.2.1 Logging in to CARDS

1. Select the **Sign In/Request Access** link in the CARDS application at https://cards.ntc.doe.gov.



- 2. At the prompt, log in using the appropriate method above (see Sections 3.1.1.1 or 3.1.1.2).
- 3. Select See full CARDS User Rules of Behavior to review the rules of behavior.
- 4. Select **I agree to the above terms** to accept the terms of service and log in to CARDS.

See full CARDS User Rules of Behavior		
I agree to the above terms	Log out	

This document was prepared by the Programs & Projects Department and is scheduled for review in May 2026.

3.2 Browsing in CARDS

Any user (with or without access to the CARDS application) can browse the cards. However, users must be logged in to view the details of a card. Users who are not logged into CARDS will be redirected to the login screen instead.

On the main CARDS page, cards are filtered and sorted by the selected criteria.

Organizations Help 🕂 New Card		Search Q Kknight -
Newest •	All Topic Areas v	All Card Types
Course	Course Version: 1	Course
General Course for Derivative Classifier Part 2 - Marking	Material Handler Training Material Handler Training is intended for staff whose	TRF-099DE, Introduction to Protective Force

- 1. To sort the grid, select one of the criteria in the first dropdown list.
- 2. To filter the grid, select a topic area or type or card from the appropriate dropdown list.
- 3. To view the details of a card, select the card.

3.3 Searching in CARDS

Searching in the CARDS application can be performed in several ways. Users do not need to be logged in to search within CARDS.

3.3.1 Quick Search

On the main CARDS page, fill in the search criteria and select the magnifying glass icon (Search button).

	\sim
Search	(a)
	\sim

The search results will look similar to those shown below.

- a. The results will indicate the number of matches found and the list of cards matching the search criteria.
- b. By default, using the search box will search all text fields for a matching result.

Organizations Help + New Card	oversight Q Stage-lexL -
86 results Refine your search Sort Highest rated	
(N	1 - 5 of 86 items
Laser Safety Officer/Auditor No Reviews No Files	Course
This self-paced training workbook will be completed by prospective candidates and will be used to qualify candidates as Safe Use of Lasers, and LWP-14608, Laser Safety Program.	laser safety officers/auditors as defined in ANSI Z-136.1,
Uploaded Sep 16, 2015 - 0 Files - Version: 1	Idaho National Laboratory
Purchase Card Approving Official No Reviews No Files	Course
This course is designed to familiarize approving officials with the requirements of LWP-4003, Using Purchase Cards to A relative to the P-Card process. It discusses controls that help to prevent fraud, waste, and abuse. Some topics covered in transferring approving official duties, recording P	
Uploaded Sep 16, 2015 - 0 Files - Version: 1	Idaho National Laboratory

3.3.2 Advanced Search

1. To add more search fields to the page, select **Refine your search**.



2. Fill out the additional fields, as appropriate, and select **Search**.

Advanced Search 🚱			
Any field:	Search all fields	Card title:	Search card titles
Introduction:	Search card introductions	Description:	Search card descriptions
Organization:	Ψ.	Card type:	Υ.
Card tags:	Search tags	Reciprocity approved o	Cards with files only
Search			

3.4 Viewing the Details of a Card

Users must have a valid CARDS account and be logged in to view the details of a card. If the user is not already logged into CARDS, select a card to redirect the user to the login page and follow the steps in Section 3.1, Logging in to CARDS.

1. Select a card to view its details.

Course						
STATE ALVANGE	MIT-121DE, EMETL					
	No ratings No Files Last edited: Jun 5, 2019 National Training Center POC: Mark Quintana Phone: 505-845-2321 Email: mquintana@ntc.doe.gov Professional Development Job Analysis eLearning					
The goal of this course is to familiarize managers, non-SMEs, and Federal oversight members with the Enterprise Mission Essential Task List (EMETL) program.						

2. To access the different sections of the card, select the tabs at the bottom of the screen (tabs are described in the following sections).

3.5 Downloading Files

Course and other materials can be attached to a card. Users can either download these materials individually or zip and download all attached files together.

The Files tab displays the name, the date uploaded, and the size of each uploaded file. If the file can be previewed, then the **Preview** button will be displayed.

3.5.1 Zipping and Downloading Multiple Files

To zip and download all files attached to the card, select **Download**.

Download					
Edit)				
Manage Files)				
Alert)				

3.5.2 Downloading Individual Files

- 1. Select the Files tab.
- 2. Select **Download** next to the name of the file to be downloaded.

V .	Name	Uploaded Date	Size
Download	\\ntcfile\users\uc95t391\My Pictures\BpckR.png	Jan 29, 2016	7.91
Download	CARDS_Efcog_20160120.mp4	Jan 29, 2016	189.5
Download	CPP_03_chip_20150924.mp4	Jan 29, 2016	9.57
Download	CPP_04_redundancy_20150925.mp4	Jan 29, 2016	7.82
Download	Owl.jpg	Feb 2, 2016	41.60
Download	Shooting thru_Med.mp4	Jan 27, 2016	569.2

3.6 Using Comment Threads

Comment threads can be created within CARDS to allow for discussion about the card.

1. To view a card's existing comments, select the Discussion tab.

Description	Files	Discussion	Reviews	Related Cards	
			т	his card has no c	comments.
+ Add a com	nment				

- 2. To add a new comment, select **Add a comment** at the bottom of the page.
- 3. To reply to a comment, select **Reply** underneath the comment.
- 4. To edit a comment, select **Edit** underneath the comment. If the Edit link is not visible, the comment cannot be edited by the user.
- 5. To delete a comment, select **Delete** underneath the comment. If the Delete link is not visible, the comment cannot be deleted by the user.
- 6. To report a comment as inappropriate, select **Report This** underneath the comment. A window will appear with options for reporting the comment.

3.7 Adding a Review to a Card

A card can be reviewed by users other than the card's owner. A user may only submit one review for a specific card, and reviews can be edited after submission.

Course	Version: 1
Idaho National Labor	Forklift Operator Initial Subscribe No rating Rate This No Files Edit Last edited: Mar 24, 2016 Manage Files Idaho National Laboratory POC: Doug Hillman Phone: Email: Email: Hoisting and Rigging
This course will provide required knowledge and skills in support identification of current operational requirements established by operational skills and abilities.	

3.7.1 Creating and Submitting a New Review

1. Select the Reviews tab on the card detail page, and select Add a review.

OR

Select the **Rate This** link next to the card's star rating. If the **Rate This** link is not visible, the user cannot review the card.

- 2. Enter a title for the review and adjust the individual rating by selecting the appropriate star for each rating.
- 3. Enter comments in the **Review Description** section.

Review	×
Review Title:	
Course Content Production Relevance Overall Rating	* * * ☆ ☆ * * * ☆ ☆ * * * ☆ ☆ * * * ☆ ☆
Review Description:	
Post anonymously?	/

4. To post a review anonymously, select the **Post anonymously** checkbox.

NOTE: Although anonymous reviews do not include the reviewer's names, designated administrators have the ability to see the names of the users who submit them.

3.7.2 Editing a Review

- 1. To edit a review, select the **Edit** link underneath the review. If **the Edit** link does not show, the review cannot be edited by the user.
- 2. To delete a review, select the **Delete** link underneath the review. If the Delete link does not show, the review cannot be deleted by the user.
- 3. To report a review as inappropriate, select **Report This** underneath the review. A window will appear with options for reporting the review.

3.8 Reporting Inappropriate Content

Cards, comments, and reviews can all be reported for inappropriate content. CARDS Administrators will be notified and will take appropriate action when inappropriate content is reported.

3.8.1 Reporting a Card

To report a card as inappropriate, select **Alert** on the card's detail page. A dialog box will appear with options for reporting the card.



3.8.2 Reporting a Comment

To report a comment as inappropriate, select **Report This** underneath the comment. A dialog box will appear with options for reporting the comment.

3.8.3 Reporting a Review

To report a review as inappropriate, select **Report This** underneath the review. A dialog box will appear with options for reporting the review.

3.8.4 Reporting Content

- 1. In the Report This Content dialog box, select an option from the Reason menu that describes why the content is being reported.
- 2. (Optional) Use the Comments section to explain why the content is inappropriate.
- 3. Select **Submit** to send a notification to CARDS Administrators to investigate the reported item.

Report This Content	×
Reason* Please Select	
Comments	
Submit	

3.9 Viewing Related Cards

Select the Related Cards tab.

Description	Files	Discussion	Reviews	Related Cards
-------------	-------	------------	---------	---------------

3.9.1 Cards with Similar Tags

The Related Cards tab shows a list of cards that share tags with the current card. The more tags a card has in common with the current card, the higher it appears on the list.

You might also be interested in these cards with similar tags:	
PHY-210DE, Facility Security Officer Overview No Reviews No Files	Course
This course provides familiarity with the DOE Facility Security Officer (FSO) roles and responsibilities.	
Uploaded Sep 16, 2015 - 0 Files - Version: 1	National Training Center

3.9.2 Card Variants

A card that is based on another card can be indicated as being a "variant" of that card. This encourages reuse of training materials across the complex and allows users and CARDS Administrators to see how the CARDS community is making use of and building on uploaded resources.

If the current card is a variant of another card, then the list will include an entry that names the base card.



If the current card has been used as the base for other cards, then the list will include one or more entries that name the variants of the card.

Variants of this card:	
ESH-402, General Employee Radiological Training (GERT) No Reviews No Files	Course
This course is a orientation for non-radiological workers who routinely enter Radiological Control Areas, encour radioactive materials in the course of their job scope.	nter radiological postings, barriers, or
Uploaded Feb 18, 2016 - 0 Files	National Training Center

3.10 Managing Subscriptions

To see all content in CARDS on a particular topic or all the content uploaded by a specific organization, subscribe to a tag or an organization.

When a tag the user has subscribed to is applied to a new card, the user will receive an email when new content has been created with that tag.

When new content is uploaded by an organization the user has subscribed to, the user will receive an email when new content has been created by that organization.



3.10.1 Subscribing/Unsubscribing to a Tag

- 1. To subscribe to a tag, select the tag from the list on the My Subscriptions tab of the user's dashboard.
- 2. To unsubscribe to a tag, select the **X** next to the tag name.

3.10.2 Subscribing/Unsubscribing to an Organization

- 1. To subscribe to an organization, select the organization name from the list on the My Subscriptions tab of the user's dashboard.
- 2. To unsubscribe from an organization, select the X next to the organization name.

3.11 Creating a New Card

To add content to the CARDS application, users must first create a card to hold the content. After the card has been created, users can upload files to the newly created card at any time. This makes it possible to create cards for several courses at once and then upload the actual content when time permits. See Section 3.13, Uploading and Deleting Files, for more information.

A newly created card will be placed in Inactive mode so it will be visible only on the My Cards tab of the owner's My Dashboard page. After the card has been activated, it will appear on the main CARDS page and will be visible in searches, filters, subscription alerts, and lists of related cards.

If users activate a card before files are uploaded, then other CARDS users can see the card and its details, including information on the Description, Discussion, Reviews, and Related Cards tabs. However, the **Download** button will not appear on the card details page and the Files tab will be empty. See Section 3.12, Activating and Inactivating a Card, for more information.

3.11.1 Entering New Card Details

1. Select **+New Card** to open the new card details page.



- 2. Complete the fields with information about the new course, image, video, or other content. Required fields are indicated with a note. The Description field is prefilled with an erasable template that provides a useful format for course information.
 - a. The template is merely a starting point of suggested information and should be modified by the site as needed.
 - b. Information entered in the Description field must not contain any content categorized as Official Use Only (OUO), Unclassified Controlled Nuclear Information (UCNI), Controlled Unclassified Information (CUI), personally identifiable information (PII), proprietary, or confidential.



This document was prepared by the Programs & Projects Department and is scheduled for review in May 2026.

Description:													
Format	Ŧ	В	I	U	≣	≣	≣	:=	ΞĒ	*=	ග		
Suggestions for details to include:													
Course ID:													
LMS Course Description:													
Target Audience:													
Course Length:													
Retraining I	Retraining Interval:												
Delivery Sou	Delivery Source: In-house or through a vendor?												
Test-out Ava	ilab	le:											

3.11.2 Adding Tags

Tags are keywords that describe the content in a card. The CARDS application uses tags to identify similar and related information in the collection, allowing users to search, browse, and subscribe to content.

CARDS is prepopulated with a list of common tags, and users can easily add new tags if necessary. Tags can be added and changed in the Tags section of the Create/Edit page.

- 1. To use an existing tag, place cursor in the Select from existing tags field and select the appropriate tag from the list.
- 2. To add a new tag:
 - a. Select Create a New Tag.
 - b. Type the tag name and select an option from the Tag menu.
 - c. Select Add New.
- 3. To remove a tag:
 - a. Select the X next to the tag name, or
 - b. Open the list and select the tag name.

Tags		
Select from existing tags	or	♣Create a New Tag
Select Tags		

3.11.3 Indicating a Card is a Variant of Another Card

Users may want to download an existing card, change the materials for their site's purposes, and upload the revised content as a new card. The new card should be marked as a *variant* of the base card on the Variant section of the Create/Edit page.

To mark a card as a variant:

- 1. Begin typing words from the title of the base card in the **This course is a variant** of field.
- 2. Select the base card from the list of suggestions.

Variant 2	
This card is a variant of: (Begin typing the card title to see sug	ggestions)

3.11.4 Adding the Point of Contact

The point of contact (POC) is the person in an organization who is responsible for the content of a card but is not necessarily the person who uploaded the card. Other CARDS users should contact the POC to request course files (if unavailable) or if they have questions or comments about the material within the card.

NOTE: It is highly recommended that sites share files by uploading them to CARDS instead of sending via email.

- 1. If the user belongs to more than one organization, then select the organization that owns the card from the **Organization** dropdown list.
- 2. Select the POC's name from the list in the Point of Contact section on the Create/Edit page.

Organization Information	
Organization: National Training C ▼	Point of Contact G Select a POC from your organization Gough, Doug

3.11.5 Specifying Availability of Additional Evaluation Materials

It may not be appropriate to post evaluation materials such as exams, test banks, knowledge checks, etc. on a public site like CARDS. To provide evaluation materials directly to individual users on a case-by-case basis, select the **Additional evaluation materials are available on request** checkbox.

3.11.6 Creating the Card

- 1. Ensure the information in the Description field conforms to the warning message above the **Submit** button.
- 2. After ensuring all fields have been filled in correctly and all files have been uploaded, select **Submit**.

NOTE: If CARDS does not redirect the user to the detail page for the card they just submitted, then the user should review the new card details page for error messages, correct any errors, and select **Submit** again.

- 3. To activate the card, see Section 3.12, Activating and Inactivating a Card.
- 4. To add content to the card, see Section 3.13, Uploading and Deleting Files.

3.12 Activating and Inactivating a Card

When a new card has been created, it will be placed in Inactive mode. This mode allows an incomplete card to be uploaded and then edited or changed at a later date, but the incomplete card will not be visible to other users and will not appear in search results.

Users can activate a card before or after content has been uploaded. An active card, with or without associated content, will appear on the main CARDS page and in search, filter, subscription alert, and related cards results.

To view the user's active and inactive cards:

- 1. Select the My Dashboard link under the user's username.
- 2. Select the My Cards tab.





An inactive card will only appear on the My Cards tab on the user's dashboard and cannot be located by any other method.

This document was prepared by the Programs & Projects Department and is scheduled for review in May 2026.

3.12.1 Activating an Inactive Card

Inactive cards will appear on the My Cards tab with the **Active** checkbox unchecked. An inactive card will also display the "This card is inactive" banner on the card details page.

My Cards 😧	My Comments 💡	My Reviews 😧	My Subscriptions	
Title			\odot	Active
SAF-101DE,	2.0 General Technica	l Base	(

- 1. To activate the card, check the Active checkbox. OR
- 2. To activate the card from the card details page, select the link in the banner.

This c	ard is inactive (Click here to activate)	
Course		

3.12.2 Inactivating a Card

To inactivate a card, uncheck the **Active** checkbox on the My Cards tab.

NOTE: This is the only way to inactivate a card.

3.13 Uploading and Deleting Files

After a card has been created, users can upload and delete files on the Manage Uploads page.

NOTE: Content uploaded to CARDS must be government-owned and must not be categorized as OUO, UCNI, CUI, PII, proprietary, or confidential.

3.13.1 Uploading Files

1. On the card detail page, select Manage Files.

	Download)
	Edit)
\bigcirc	Manage Files	>
	Alert)

2. On the Manage Uploads page, select **Upload a file**.



- a. Navigate to the folder where the file to be uploaded is stored.
- b. Select the appropriate file(s), and select **Open**.
- 3. Users can also drag the files from a desktop or file folder to the Drop files here window on the Manage Uploads page.
 - a. Large files may take longer to upload than smaller files.
 - b. Newly uploaded files will appear on the Manage Uploads page.
 - c. Uploading extremely large files or trying to upload too many files at one time may cause CARDS to timeout during the upload process. If this happens:
 - 1) Try uploading smaller files or fewer files at one time.
 - 2) Use the file selection process in Steps 1 and 2 of this section to successfully upload larger files.

3.13.2 Deleting a File

1. On the card detail page, select Manage Files.

Download
Edit
Manage Files

2. Select **Delete** next to the file to be deleted.

Ma	Manage Uploads			
	Government-owned content only. No OUO, UCNI, PII or o	onfidential content of any kind.		
	Upload a file			
	Shooting thru_Med.mp4	569.2M Delete		
	\\ntcfile\users\uc95t391\Wy Pictures\BpckR.png	7.9kB Delete		

3.14 Editing an Existing Card

A user can edit his or her own cards. When the user has permission to edit the currently viewed card, the Edit link will appear on the card detail page.

To edit a card, select **Edit** to open the card's Create/Edit page.

Download
Edit
Manage Files
Alert

See Section 3.11, Creating a New Card, for information on using the fields on the Create/Edit page.

See Section 3.13, Uploading and Deleting Files, for information on managing a card's files.

3.15 Reciprocity

Cards for courses that have been approved for the NTC's Reciprocity Program will display the Reciprocity logo on the browsing, search, and card detail screens.

INL Radiological Worker II Initial	Course
No Reviews No Files This course is designed to: prepare the worker to work safely in and around radiological areas and present methods used to ensure individual exposure is maintained as low as reasonably achievable. RW II is divided into 8 modules. All 8 modules present theoretical knowledge the wor to work safely in and around radiological hazards. Additional site-specific training and pra	
Uploaded Sep 16, 2015 - 0 Files - Version: 1	Idaho National Laboratory



Only an NTC CARDS Administrator can mark a card for Reciprocity. If a card that was marked for Reciprocity is edited, it may need to be marked again by the Administrator.